STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
OCT 29 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GEORGE HOLMES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-002010

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the court err by failing to direct a verdict for the offense of indecent exposure where the alleged exposure occurred in a holding cell at the Beaufort County Detention Center, which is not a public place as intended by the legislature or as defined by our Supreme Court, and where the state failed to present any direct evidence or circumstantial evidence that Appellant willfully and maliciously exposed his person or intended to expose his person?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on April 30, 2015 for indecent exposure.

R. 163. His case was called to trial on July 26, 2016 before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Jr., and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Dustin Whetsel and Melanie Graham represented the state, and Jessica Saxon and Kate Cappelmann represented Appellant. R. 1.

On July 27, 2016, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 154, ll. 13-17. He was sentenced on September 12, 2016 to three years suspended upon the service of one year imprisonment and five years' probation. He was also ordered to register as a sex offender. R. 160, ll. 7-23.

On September 22, 2016, a hearing was held on Appellant's motion to reconsider the requirement that he register as a sex offender. By order dated September 29, 2016, Judge Nettles amended the original sentence and ordered Appellant was not required to register as a sex offender. R. 161.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 6, 2014, Appellant was incarcerated at the Beaufort County Detention Center. He suffers from severe mental illness, including schizophrenia, and was placed on suicide watch after complaining of hearing voices and stating he was going to harm himself. R. 43, l. 16 – 44, l. 5. An inmate on suicide watch is required to be continually monitored and visually observed by a correctional officer every fifteen minutes. R. 58, l. 13 – 59, l. 14. Consequently, such inmates, like Appellant, are housed in a single person holding cell in the booking area of the detention center. R. 58, ll. 1-12.

In order to reach the booking area from outside the detention center, one must first sign in and pass through a metal detector. After going through the metal detector, the individual must pass through “a secured locked door that is controlled from a central location.” This first secured door leads to “sort of an in-between area” before the individual reaches a second secured locked door. After being granted access through this second secured door, the individual finally reaches the booking area. R. 39, l. 20 – 41, l. 16; R. 31, ll. 15-20. Because it is a jail, the detention center has numerous security protocols in place. R. 41, ll. 17-22; R. 65, ll. 7-11.

Appellant was placed in a holding cell identified as IH-1. R. 79, ll. 8-14. This cell, along with others used to house inmates on suicide watch, has a surveillance camera that captures what occurs inside the cell. R. 53, ll. 12-18. Additionally, each cell has a metal toilet, sink, and bunk. R. 66, ll. 18-22. The door to each cell is made of steel and slides shut from left to right. When closed, there is a small gap between the door and the wall approximately one and a half to two inches wide. R. 54, l. 17 – 55, l. 4. The door itself also has a very small window that officers use to monitor inmates housed inside. R. 58, ll. 13-25.

The state alleged at trial that on the evening of April 6, 2014, Appellant masturbated inside his cell and purposefully positioned himself so that a female correctional officer, Jessica DeSantis, could see him. DeSantis claimed that she could see Appellant's penis through the small one and a half to two inch gap between the cell door and the wall. R. 87, l. 1 – 90, l. 2; R. 93, ll. 1-3. She also claimed that while Appellant was masturbating, he yelled obscene words at her, such as slut and whore. R. 87, ll. 6-10; R. 92, ll. 8-18.

Nearly three months later, after consulting with the solicitor's office and waiting for the results of a mental health evaluation Appellant had undergone, law enforcement charged Appellant with indecent exposure pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-130. R. 44, l. 6 – 45, l. 15. This statute reads in relevant part: "(A)(1) It is unlawful for a person to willfully, maliciously, and indecently expose his person in a public place, on property of others, or to the view of any person on a street or highway."

Appellant moved pretrial to dismiss the indictment arguing that the Beaufort County Detention Center is not a public place under the plain meaning of the statute, and thus Appellant could not be convicted of indecent exposure. R. 2, l. 1 – 3, l. 11. Defense counsel argued that at the time of the alleged offense Appellant was housed in a very "small private place" behind a steel door in a "highly secured government building that the public does not have general access to." R. 2, ll. 13-20. Because the state must prove Appellant exposed himself in a public place, counsel concluded that the prosecution could not meet all the elements of the offense and that the indictment should be dismissed.

The assistant solicitor admitted "there is no South Carolina law on point when it comes to [what constitutes] a public place." However, the solicitor asserted that "the Attorney General published a memo back in August of 2007 where they were responding to a question of graffiti

inside of a detention center and if it would fit the statute because it [the statute] required that it [the graffiti] be publically viewable. So the Attorney General put out an opinion and they cited several cases and I want to hand these up to Your Honor.” R. 4, l. 20 – 5, l. 6. Relying on cases from other jurisdictions cited by the Attorney General in its August 2007 opinion, some of which are unpublished and most of which are not directly on point, the solicitor argued that the holding cell in the Beaufort County Detention Center where Appellant was being housed at the time of the alleged exposure constituted a public place.

Defense counsel stated in response “that our general assembly at the beginning of 2015 attempted to amend our public indecent exposure statute to specifically include a jail as a public facility for purposes of the statute” but the amendment “was killed by the house without being passed.” Consequently, counsel argued that the “legislative intent is not to include the jail house as a public place in the state of South Carolina.” R. 12, ll. 1-14. She later continued, “And our legislature attempted to change that act and it failed. And that I think is extremely damning to the State’s argument that this is in any way shape or form a public place for the purposes of the statute.” R. 13, ll. 19-23.

Moreover, defense counsel asserted that the statute is “designed to protect the public from instances of indecent exposure . . . [and] as much as Ms. DeSantis [the correctional officer] may not [have] enjoyed having to see that and as much as other C-O’s [correctional officers] probably don’t like it either unfortunately they are not considered the public under the law. This is part of their job.” R. 13, ll. 3-13. Lastly, defense counsel stressed that the holding cell where Appellant was housed at the time of the alleged exposure “is behind two remote control locked doors, a guarded security desk and a metal detector [and] is not a public place at all.” R. 13, ll. 14-19.

The trial court ultimately denied the pretrial motion to dismiss. The court found “the jail is indeed a public place for purposes of this statute [S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-130].” R. 49, ll. 4-6. The court emphasized that because correctional officers were required to visually check on Appellant while he was placed in IH-1 on suicide watch and because other people, including inmates, could walk by and potentially see the alleged exposure, the area was a “public place.” R. 15, ll. 12-17.

At the conclusion of the state’s presentation of evidence, Appellant moved for a directed verdict and renewed and incorporated the arguments he raised during the pretrial motion to dismiss. The following exchange took place between defense counsel and the court:

Ms. Saxon: Again, I stand by my earlier argument that the jail for the purpose of the statute and the cell where all of this occurred as we have now seen is not a public place. It is not someplace that people freely have access to. The alleged exposure occur[ed] through maybe a one inch, two inch at the most, crack in a cell door.

As we see from the video you don’t see anything. You see Mr. Holmes['] [Appellant’s] back the entire time. And you never see him expose himself openly to a camera. He does not run out into the booking area and rip off his suicide gown, which has been testified to be a solid piece. And the entire time based on the evidence you see he is also up against a door, Your Honor. And so when you are talking about exposure there has to be some exposure. There has to be something that we can actually see and show and say look jury, this is how this happened, this is what happened. And **there has been no evidence of actual exposure in this case.**

There again as I stated there has been nothing to support the idea that the jail is a public place or somewhere that the people have general access to, which is required in my opinion under the statute. I think for those reasons Your Honor I would ask you to direct a verdict in favor of Mr. Holmes [Appellant].

The Court: What do you think about the fact that this is like a one to two inch crack **it seems to me like you would almost have to go peek into it to see it.**

Ms. Saxon: That’s my opinion too, Your Honor. And when you are in the jail and if you look at the videos and the photos that have been presented this is not a wide gap. **This is something that takes a deliberate action upon the**

other person to go and look through. It is not something where you can shove his --

The Court: -- this is a lot different than -- you can see and hear tell of a lot of public defenders who find themselves going into pods and there are people [inmates] out and about and there is full on masturbation and they will drop their britches to the floor and masturbate. This isn't what that is.

Ms. Saxon: No it's not, Your Honor. And that's one of the reasons that I have felt so strongly about this particularly because of where it did occur which is in this very confined cell where Mr. Holmes is allegedly masturbating against a door with the exposure being this two inch maybe, maybe two inch crack and the State still has to prove that he had an intent to expose himself.

There is criminal intent in any criminal crime and they've not offered any evidence to that because it wasn't like he was trying to shove himself through the crack. He wasn't jumping up on his bed to try to get [a] better view of the window; nothing of that nature. And I think here particularly --

The Court: -- I think perhaps it's clear that he might have been masturbating based on what he was saying and she [DeSantis] might be right in that regard. But I don't think -- **she said she saw it. I'm not really sure how she did.**

Ms. Saxon: I agree with you, Your Honor. And I would ask that you direct a verdict for Mr. Holmes [Appellant].

The Court: There might be **a scintilla of evidence** because of the fact that she said she saw him. I don't know.

R. 106, l. 3 – 108, l. 25 (emphasis added).

In response to defense counsel's argument, the solicitor asserted that whether DeSantis saw Appellant's penis or whether Appellant intended to expose himself was a question of fact for the jury. R. 109, l. 1 – 114, l. 7.

The trial court ultimately denied the motion for a directed verdict finding "that there is indeed **a scintilla of evidence**" that Appellant exposed himself based on Officer DeSantis' testimony that she saw Appellant's penis through the crack between the cell door and the wall. The court continued, "I think that is clearly a legitimate question of fact that needs to be resolved by the

jury . . . [w]ith regard to whether it is a public place or not and with regard to whether or not she [DeSantis] saw his penis and whether or not he intentionally displayed his penis to her. So we will proceed forward with the trial.” R. 119, l. 23 – 120, l. 5.

During deliberations, the jury requested to be recharged on the definition of a public place. It also requested to rewatch the video from the surveillance camera inside Appellant’s cell at the time of the alleged offense, which was marked as State’s Exhibit No. 13 and is on file with this Court. R. 151, l. 18 – 152, l. 23.

ARGUMENT

The court erred by failing to direct a verdict for the offense of indecent exposure where the alleged exposure occurred in a holding cell at the Beaufort County Detention Center, which is not a public place as intended by the legislature or as defined by our Supreme Court, and where the state failed to present any direct evidence or circumstantial evidence that Appellant willfully and maliciously exposed his person or intended to expose his person.

“It is a fundamental concept of criminal law that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt all the elements of the offense charged against the defendant.” State v. Cain, 419 S.C. 24, 30, 795 S.E.2d 846, 849 (2017) (quoting State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 590, 602 S.E.2d 392, 397 (2004)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “If there is **any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence** reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find that the case was properly submitted to the jury.” State v. McGowan, 347 S.C. 618, 622, 557 S.E.2d 657, 659 (2001) (citing State v. Rowell, 326 S.C. 313, 315, 487 S.E.2d 185, 196 (1997)) (emphasis added).

When the prosecution relies exclusively on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge must direct a verdict in the defendant’s favor unless there is any substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the defendant or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (citing State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)).

Likewise, a directed verdict is proper when the evidence produced “merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty.” State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001) (citing State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000)); State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 390, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004); State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452 (1984). Our

courts define suspicion as “a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256 (citing State v. Hyder, 242 S.C. 372, 131 S.E.2d 96 (1963)).

When ruling on Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict, the trial court erred by applying an incorrect standard of review. The court found the state presented “at least a **scintilla of evidence**” and therefore denied Appellant’s motion. R. 114, ll. 8-11 (emphasis added); see also R. 119, ll. 23-25; R. 115, ll. 17-18. This was clearly error. The correct standard when ruling on a motion for a directed verdict during a criminal trial where an individual’s liberty is at stake is whether there is “**any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence** reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused.” McGowan, 347 S.C. at 622, 557 S.E.2d at 659 (emphasis added). The trial court erroneously relied upon the *much lower* standard that is used in civil cases when ruling on a motion for summary judgment. See Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802 (2009) (holding in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment, but in cases requiring a heightened burden of proof or in cases applying federal law, the non-moving party must submit more than a mere scintilla of evidence to withstand a motion for summary judgment).

Under the proper standard of review, the trial judge should have directed a verdict of acquittal because the state failed to present any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant willfully and maliciously exposed his person or intended to expose his person. Moreover, the state could not prove all the elements of the offense because the holding cell at the Beaufort County Detention Center where Appellant was housed when he allegedly exposed himself is not a public place under S.C. Code. Ann. § 16-15-130.

Appellant was indicted for indecent exposure under § 16-15-130. This statute reads in relevant part: “(A)(1) It is unlawful for a person to willfully, maliciously, and indecently expose his person in a **public place**, on property of others, or to the view of any person on a street or highway.” (emphasis added). The single person holding cell at the Beaufort County Detention Center where Appellant allegedly exposed himself while masturbating does not constitute a public place under the statute.

“The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature.” Bryant v. State, 384 S.C. 525, 529, 683 S.E.2d 280, 282 (2009) (quoting Mid-State Auto Auction of Lexington, Inc. v. Altman, 324 S.C. 65, 69, 476 S.E.2d 690, 692 (1996)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “As such, a court must abide by the plain meaning of the words of a statute.” State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 587, 713 S.E.2d 621, 622 (2011) (citing Hodge v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000)). Also, penal statutes must be strictly construed against the state and in favor of the defendant. Hair v. State, 305 S.C. 77, 79, 406 S.E.2d 332, 334 (1991) (citing State v. Cutler, 274 S.C. 376, 378, 264 S.E.2d 420, 420-421 (1980)); State v. Muldrow, 348 S.C. 264, 268, 559 S.E.2d 847, 849 (2002).

In State v. Williams, 280 S.C. 305, 312 S.E.2d 555 (1984), our Supreme Court held the following definition of a “public place” was “proper and satisfactory:”

A place to which **the general public has a right to resort**; not necessarily a place devoted solely to the uses of the public, but a place which is in point of fact public rather than private, a place visited by many persons and usually **accessible to the neighboring public**. Any place so situated that what passes there can be seen by any considerable number of persons, if they happen to look. Also, a place in which the public has an interest as affecting the safety, health, morals, and welfare of the community. **A place exposed to the public, and where the public gather together or pass to and for.**”

Id. at 306-307, 312 S.E.2d at 556 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

In Williams, the Supreme Court held that the lobby of the Austin Wilkes Society Home was a public place under the public disorderly conduct statute because it was common knowledge that the homes, which received financial assistance from United Way and governmental grants, were not private residences. Id. at 307, 312 S.E.2d at 556. Moreover, the lobby where the conduct occurred was a large waiting area and game room with a television that was commonly used by both tenants and guests. Id.

Here, Appellant was housed in a single person holding cell in the booking area of the detention center. Because it is a jail, the Beaufort County Detention Center has numerous security protocols in place and the general public does not have access to the facility or any right to resort at the facility. See Williams, 280 S.C. at 306-307, 312 S.E.2d at 556. The evidence established that in order to reach the booking area of the detention center one has to first sign in at a guarded desk and pass through a metal detector. The individual then has to be granted access through two separate secured doors that are controlled from a central location. R. 39, l. 20 – 41, l. 16. The only people granted access to the booking area are recently arrested individuals who are accompanied by law enforcement officers, correctional officers, fellow inmates, and nurses who treat inmates. Again, the general public does not have access to the area. Because it is a private, secured facility, the detention center, and even more specifically, the booking area, is not a “public place” under the plain meaning of the statute.

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