STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

OCT 29 2019

Michael G. Nettles, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2016-002010

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

GEORGE HOLMES,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III  
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880  
Bluffton, SC 29526  
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)). The task of the trial court is to simply determine “whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016). The reviewing court should affirm if in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, “the evidence could induce a reasonable juror to find [the defendant] guilty.” See *State v. Pearson*, 415 S.C. 463, 474, 783 S.E.2d 802, 807 (2016).

Further, an appellate court will not overturn a decision made by the trial court that was based on harmless error, where an error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it did not contribute to the verdict obtained and where it appears from the record that the conviction is clearly correct on the merits, that the accused had a fair trial, and where no other verdict could reasonably have been returned on the evidence. *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014); *State v. Gilstrap*, 205 S.C. 412, 32 S.E.2d 163 (1944); *State v. Evans*, 202 S.C. 463, 25 S.E.2d 492 (1943). Determining if an error is harmless is not subject to a definite rule, but is assessed in light of the circumstances of the case and if, in this light, the error was not unduly prejudicial and material. *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 447–48, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011) (quoting *State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 193–94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990)).

- a. The Beaufort County Detention Center is a sufficiently public place to satisfy the indecent exposure statute

Appellant contends that the Beaufort County Detention Center’s booking area is not a public place as required under the indecent exposure statute. To support his contention, Appellant cites *State v. Williams*, which defines a public place as follows:

[a] place to which the general public has a right to resort; not necessarily a place devoted solely to the uses of the public, but a place which is in point of fact public rather than private, a place visited by many persons and usually accessible to the neighboring public. Any place so situated that what passes there can be seen by any considerable number of persons, if they happen to look. Also, a place in which the public has an interest as affecting the safety, health, morals and welfare of the community. A place exposed to the public, and where the public gather together to pass to and fro.

*State v. Williams*, 280 S.C. 305, 306–07, 312 S.E.2d 555, 556 (1984).

Appellant places a particular emphasis on the phrases: (1) “[a] place to which the general public has a right to resort,” (2) “a place visited by many persons and usually accessible to the neighboring public,” and (3) “[a] place exposed to the public, and where the public gather together to pass to and fro.” (App.Br.11).

Appellant seems to claim that, because the Beaufort County Detention Center’s booking area does not adhere to every facet of this definition, then the booking area cannot be a public place. This is, however, misguided. For the purposes of the indecent exposure statute, the booking area of the Beaufort County Detention Center is a public place, as the booking area adheres to two different facets of the *Williams* definition of “public place”: “Any place so situated that what passes there can be seen by any considerable number of persons, if they happen to look” and “Also, a place in which the public has an interest as affecting the safety, health, morals and welfare of the community.” Each of these is discussed below.

The booking area of the detention center and, more specifically, the holding cell therein both fit within the definition of “any place so situated that what passes there can be seen by any considerable number of persons, if they happen to look.” A considerable number of people pass through the booking area, including corrections officers, attorneys, maintenance staff, nurses, inmates who are working, and anyone being booked. Though the area is undoubtedly well-

secured and inaccessible to a person without authorization, there are a great many people who pass through the area on a daily basis who could see what passes there if they happen to look. The holding cell, though not accessible to as many people as the booking area, is also a public place. The key aspect of the definition is "if they happen to look": though the holding cell is not as open as the booking area itself, its interior is easily visible by anyone who would look inside. The holding cell's interior is visible to a "considerable number of persons" both via the window at the front and through the several-inch crack in the door. While it is true that Appellant blocked the window with his head during the time in which he exposed himself, his activity was, by his very design, entirely visible through the crack between his cell door and the wall. Though this is a smaller area through which to view the cell, the record shows that, if someone looked through the crack, the inside of the cell was definitely visible. Appellant's masturbation was entirely visible to Officer DeSantis when she looked through the cell door as she passed by, and anyone else who passed and looked could have also seen the activity. Because the inside of the holding cell and whatever occurs therein is visible to any number of persons who pass by and may look through both the cell window and the crack in the door, the cell is also a sufficiently public place for the purposes of the indecent exposure statute.

The detention center is also a public place by virtue of being a place "in which the public has an interest as affecting the safety, health, morals and welfare of the community." As a place in which those who commit crimes are removed from society and through which the general public is protected from the dangers of those individuals, a detention center most certainly affects the safety, health, morals, and welfare of the community in that it protects society from the criminal element. Everyone's safety, health, and welfare are affected in a beneficial manner when a criminal is removed from the streets and housed in a facility away from the community,

and the morals of the community are also protected by this same removal. As such, the public has a definite interest in a detention center as affecting the safety, health, and welfare of the community. Because of this, a detention center is a public place, and, by virtue of being within the detention center and also serving the same functions, the booking area of the detention center and the holding cell are also public places for purposes of the indecent exposure statute. Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in determining both the booking area of the detention center and the holding cell were public places.

Though the South Carolina courts have never adjudicated the matter of whether or not a detention center is a public place for purposes of indecent exposure, other jurisdictions have definitively held a detention center or prison to be sufficiently public for indecent exposure. In general, the majority of jurisdictions, when determining if a prison is a public place, apply a test that identifies a place as public if activity conducted there could reasonably be perceived by others, even if it is not open to all members of the public. *See Commonwealth v. Hay*, 987 S.W.2d 792, 796 (Ky. 1999) (“[T]he jail is public property provided at the public expense for public uses . . . .”); *Kerbersky v. N. Mich. Univ.*, 582 N.W.2d 828, 832–33 (Mich. 1998) (prisons are public buildings); *People v. McNamara*, 585 N.E.2d 788, 793 (N.Y. 1991); *State v. Black*, 545 S.W.2d 617, 619 (Ark. 1977) (finding jail was a public place within the meaning of the public sexual indecency statute); *Messina v. State*, 130 A.2d 578, 579–80 (Md. 1957); *State v. Narcisse*, 833 So.2d 1186, 1191–92 (La. Ct. App. 2002); *People v. Giacinti*, 358 N.E.2d 934, 937 (Ill. App. Ct. 1976) (concluding that a prison cell is a public place); *Op. S.C. Att’y Gen.* 2007 WL 3244890 (S.C.A.G. Aug. 22, 2007) (supporting the conclusion that at least parts of a prison or detention center may be considered a public place). Thus, the trial court’s conclusion that the booking area and holding cell of the detention center are public places within the meaning of

section 16-15-130, the indecent exposure statute, comports with both logic and other jurisdictions. The detention center and the holding cell are both “places so situated that what passes there can be seen by any considerable number of persons, if they happen to look.”

- b. There was direct evidence and substantial circumstantial evidence to support the willful and malicious intent behind Appellant’s exposure of his person

Appellant contends there was no direct or circumstantial evidence presented by the State at trial to support the charge that Appellant willfully and maliciously exposed his person or intended to expose his person. A central part of Appellant’s argument is that the trial judge improperly applied the civil “scintilla of evidence” standard in his determination of whether or not there was sufficient evidence of Appellant’s willful and malicious intent to deny the motion for directed verdict. (App.Br.10). Appellant contends this lower standard inappropriately contributed to the denial of directed verdict. The State concedes that the proper standard of review for directed verdict is whether any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence exists. *See State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. 279, 292–93, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006) (“If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, this Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.”). However, in this case there was direct evidence in the form of Officer DeSantis’s testimony that Appellant exposed his penis while calling her derogatory names. Thus, although technically not the proper standard of review, the trial judge’s mistaken reliance on a “scintilla of evidence” was a distinction without a difference. The State presented direct evidence and substantial circumstantial evidence sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of willfully and maliciously exposing his person.

Though South Carolina courts have yet to grapple with the issue of proving the element of intent in a case of an inmate’s indecent exposure and masturbation, a Missouri court has done

just this. In *State v. McCurtain*, 471 S.W.3d 380, 383 (Mo. Ct. App. 2015), an inmate appealed his conviction for sexual misconduct, which is similar to South Carolina's indecent exposure offense in that it occurs when a person exposes his/her genitals under circumstances which he or she knows is likely to cause affront or alarm. Here, the intent element likewise encompasses the intent to cause affront or alarm. "Willfully and maliciously," as found in South Carolina's indecent exposure statute, is used to describe the actions of a person that are intended to harm another person. McCurtain contended that the State had not presented sufficient evidence of his intent to cause affront or alarm, but the court found the circumstantial evidence of intent presented was sufficient to permit a reasonable juror to find the requisite intent to be present. *McCurtain*, 471 S.W.3d at 383-84 (finding the circumstantial evidence included the facts that appellant waited to masturbate until the victim was at his cell, after he had requested something of her that required her presence and, once he had sufficiently positioned himself so that he was sure he could be seen by her, and that he failed to stop when the victim ordered him to do so). Though Missouri's statute and the exact intent required in *McCurtain* are not identical to Appellant's case, the circumstantial evidence sufficient to prove the element of intent is similar.

Appellant's actions in exposing himself were most certainly willful and malicious, as they were intended to cause harm. "[I]ntent is seldom susceptible to proof by direct evidence and must ordinarily be proven by circumstantial evidence, that is, by facts and circumstances from which intent may be inferred. Circumstantial evidence alone is often sufficient to show criminal intent because the element of intent, being a state of mind or mental purpose, is usually incapable of direct proof." *State v. Lewis*, 403 S.C. 345, 358, 743 S.E.2d 124, 131 (Ct. App. 2013) (Few, C.J., dissenting) (quoting *State v. Cherry*, 348 S.C. 281, 288, 559 S.E.2d 297, 300 (Ct. App. 2001)). A willful act is one that is voluntary and intentional, and a malicious act is one

that is intentional and wrongful and is performed without legal justification or excuse. *Black's Law Dictionary* 977, 1630 (8th ed. 2004). Furthermore, an act of malice inherently consists of the intent to commit harm and has been construed by South Carolina courts to encompass its more popular meaning: the act was done out of sheer meanness and a depraved spirit. *Green v. Smith*, 149 S.C. 303, 147 S.E. 333, 335 (1929); *State v. Weeks*, 185 S.C. 277, 194 S.E. 12 (1937).

Here, direct evidence in the form of Officer DeSantis's testimony that Appellant exposed his penis while standing directly in front of the crack in the door, while at the same time calling her names and threatening that he knew where she lived, indicates willful and malicious intent by Appellant. Circumstantial evidence further indicates that Appellant's exposure of his person to Officer DeSantis was entirely willful. Not only did Appellant position himself so that his penis could be seen by Officer DeSantis as she passed by his cell, but he also called out to her repeatedly, not only beckoning her by name but also banging on his cell door while using expletives when referring to her in order to draw her attention to him. At one point, according to testimony and as corroborated by video evidence from inside Appellant's cell, Appellant placed a leg up on his bunk to provide an even clearer view of his penis to Officer DeSantis. Also, before Appellant took these actions, he attempted to cover the camera in his cell. This displays clear forethought and knowledge that the exposure was intended. Were the Appellant to masturbate without intending for anyone to see and without any wrongful intent, he would have no need to obstruct the camera's view. Officer DeSantis testified that masturbation is a regular occurrence in jail, but that inmates are generally modest about the act. Covering the camera before proceeding to position himself at the door's gap demonstrates Appellant fully intended to expose himself to Officer DeSantis, as covering the camera was the best way to insure that no

video evidence of his wrongful act would exist. Appellant's exposure of himself to Officer DeSantis, therefore, was voluntary and undoubtedly intentional; his conduct was willful.

Appellant's exposure of himself to Officer DeSantis was also malicious. The circumstantial evidence demonstrates that when exposing himself to Officer DeSantis, Appellant certainly intended to commit harm. The act was done out of meanness and a depraved spirit: not only was his extremely visible masturbation certain to be offensive and alarming, but his name-calling and the threats to Officer DeSantis were mean. When considered in the context of the explicitly obvious masturbation, Appellant's calling Officer DeSantis a "a cunt, a coke head, a dope fiend, a slut, a whore" and threatening her by telling her that he knew where she lived and was going to pay her a visit make quite clear that the act was borne out of meanness and an obvious intent to commit harm by alarming Officer DeSantis and threatening her. (R. 87, lines 6-8). The act, therefore, was malicious.

For all of these reasons, there is direct evidence and substantial circumstantial evidence to support the jury's finding that Appellant's exposure of himself was both willful and malicious, and the denial of the directed verdict was proper in light of the need to submit the matter to the jury.

Finally, the trial judge's use of the "scintilla of evidence" standard of review was harmless error. Here, questions of credibility necessitated the denial of the directed verdict motion and the submission of the matter to the jury. Substantial circumstantial evidence was presented to submit the case to the jury to determine whether Appellant exposed himself willfully and maliciously. The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict. Accordingly, Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.